JAN 2 9 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 32769-8-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL, a public entity,

RESPONDENT,

VS.

TAMARA MARIE CORTER, a married individual, STEVE GROSECLOSE, an individual,

APPELLANTS

and

DOUGLAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

RESPONDENT.

APPEAL FROM DOUGLAS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 14-2-00039-9

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jeffrey R. Caffee
Van Siclen, Stocks & Firkins
721 45th St NE
Auburn, WA 98002
253-859-8899
jcaffee@vansiclen.com

I. INTRODUCTION

RCW 4.96.041(4) provides that when an employee of a local governmental entity has been represented in a civil rights action at the local government's expense and the court hearing the action has found that the employee was acting within the scope of his or her official duties, the local government is obligated to pay the judgment. In addition to RCW 4.96.041, both Douglas County Code ("DCC") 2.90 and the Joint Self-Insurance Liability Policy ("JSILP") insurance policy also require indemnification when an officer is found to have acted, or in good faith purported to have acted, within the scope of his official duties.

In this case, a jury found that Steve Groseclose, an employee of Douglas County, acted under color of law, and a judgment was entered against him under 42 U.S.C. § 1981. For an officer to be found to be acting under color of law, his acts must be performed while acting or purporting to act in the performance of his official duties. *McDade v. West*, 223 F.3d 1135, 1139-40 (9th Cir.2000) (citing *Van Ort v. Estate of Stanewich*, 92 F.3d 831, 838 (9th Cir. 1996)). As a result of Groseclose being found to have acted under color of law, Douglas County and Washington Counties Risk Pool ("WCRP") are obligated to indemnify him under RCW 4.96.041, DCC 2.90, and the JSILP insurance policy. The trial court erred when it found otherwise.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Superior Court erred by denying Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment.
- The Superior Court erred by granting Respondent's & Douglas
 County's Motions for Summary Judgment.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did Douglas County authorize the payment of expenses for the defense of Groseclose given that Douglas County readily admits it made such payments?
- 2. Is the phrase "scope of official duties" as used in RCW 4.96.041 more consistent with "color of law" than with "scope of employment"?
- 3. Was Groseclose acting within the scope of his official duties, where he was found to be acting under color of law?
- 4. Should the JSILP policy be interpreted consistent with RCW 4.96.041?
- 5. Has Douglas County waived all defenses to indemnification, as it accepted the defense of Groseclose?
- 6. Is Groseclose bound to the Interlocal Agreement and WCRP bylaws to which he is neither a member nor a party?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of the Underlying Case.

The underlying case involves Groseclose's improper use of his position as a detective with the Douglas County Sheriff's Office to access police reports regarding his ex-wife Tamara Corter containing sensitive, private health information. CP 13-16, 26-27. Within a few months of accessing this report and learning Corter's private health information, Groseclose used this privileged information to file a petition for sole guardianship of their child. CP 15. Thereafter, Corter filed a § 1983¹ claim against Groseclose and Douglas County for violation of her privacy rights.

B. Douglas County's Insurance Coverage through WCRP.

Douglas County is a member of the WCRP, a multi-county organization designed for the purpose of self-insurance. CP 188. The WCRP is governed by an Interlocal Agreement, signed by all member counties, as well as a set of bylaws.² CP 203-25. The WCRP provides liability insurance to its member counties under a policy known as JSILP. CP 227-38. The JSILP policy provides:

¹ 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

² The Interlocal Agreement defines its membership as follows:

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and among the several countries organized and existing under the Constitution and laws as political subdivisions of the State of Washington which are parties signatory to this Agreement (Collectively "Member Counties", and individually "Member County").

CP 203.

- 2. PERSONS AND ORGANIZATIONS INSURED: This policy shall insure:
- B. Subject to and conditioned upon authorization by the member county, as provided in RCW 4.96.041 and the member county's implementing ordinance or resolution, all past and present employees, elected and appointed officials, and volunteers, whether or not compensated, while acting or in good faith purporting to act within the scope of their official duties for the member county or on its behalf, including, but not limited to, all commissions, agencies, districts, authorities, boards (including the governing board) or similar entities which operate under the member county's supervision or control.

CP 230. If coverage is denied, the appeal process is governed not by the JSILP policy, but by WCRP's bylaws. CP 221-23. The bylaws provide that the aggrieved party must submit its appeal to the WCRP's executive director within 30 days of the initial decision. CP 221. The only provision on review of decisions actually contained in the policy states,

No action shall lie against the Pool unless, as a condition precedent thereto, there shall have been full compliance with all of the terms of this policy, nor until the amount of the **insured**'s obligation to pay shall have been finally determined either by judgment against the **insured** after actual trial or by written agreement of the **insured**, the claimant and the Pool.

CP 236 (emphasis in original). However, nowhere in the JSILP policy does it state that WCRP's bylaws were meant to be incorporated into the terms and conditions of the policy.

C. Douglas County Paid Expenses for the Defense of Groseclose.

Douglas County Code 2.90.030 states, in relevant part:

- (A) Douglas County shall grant the request to defend a claim and pay the necessary expenses of defense upon a determination that the claim is based upon an alleged act or omission of the officer, employee or volunteer which was, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties. Such determination shall be made as follows:
 - 1. By a majority vote of a quorum of the board of county commissioners consisting of members not named as a party to such claim; or
 - 2. If a quorum of unnamed members of the board is not possible, then by a written opinion of legal counsel, other than the prosecuting attorney, as selected by the board. Such legal counsel shall not be an attorney or member of a law firm who has performed services within the past three years for Douglas County.
- (B) Douglas County shall not defend or pay for the expense of defending a claim against an officer, employee or volunteer based which alleges unlawfully obtaining personal benefits while acting in his or her official capacity.
- (C) Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim which are paid or incurred by an officer, employee or volunteer prior to receipt of a proper written request by the board of county commissioners. Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim in advance of services being rendered or costs being incurred.

Douglas County Code does not allow Douglas County to authorize the payment of expenses for a defense unless the claim against the officer is that

he unlawfully obtained personal benefits while acting in his official capacity. DCC 2.90.030.

After Corter filed her § 1983 complaint, Douglas County sent a copy of the complaint and summons to the WCRP. RP 5. The WCRP then authorized the payment of expenses for Groseclose's defense, subject to a reservation of rights. CP 341, 376. The WCRP appointed an attorney to defend Groseclose against Corter's claims. CP 341, 376. The appointed attorney defended Groseclose throughout the entire action. CP 376. In addition to its regular insurance premiums, Douglas County also spent \$25,000, the policy's deductible limit, on the underlying litigation. RP 24. Nothing in the record indicates that Douglas County ever specified that the funds were to be used only for the claims against the County.

C. Dismissal of Douglas County from the Underlying Case.

On September 20, 2013, the court in the underlying case granted Douglas County's motion for summary judgment stating:

The second § 1983 prong is whether the unconstitutional conduct was committed by a person acting under color of state law. There is no dispute that the County, as a municipality, is a person under § 1983 and may be liable for a constitutional violation. See Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 690 (1978). However, it is disputed whether the County "acted" under color of state law. A municipality cannot be liable based on respondeat superior; instead to prove a municipality "acted" under color of state law, a plaintiff must show that a "policy or custom" of the municipality caused the injury. Id. at 689-91.

CP 368.

While the court in the underlying case found Douglas County had not instituted a policy or custom that caused injury to Corter, and thus did not act under color of state law, the court made no finding as to whether Groseclose was acting under color of law. CP 361-72. That was left to the jury. Additionally, the court stated that the application of respondeat superior was irrelevant, and declined to address it. CP 368.

D. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at Trial.

At the trial for the underlying case, the jury was presented with the following instruction on the term, "under color of law":

A person acts "under color of law" when the person acts or purports to act 1) in the performance of official duties under any state, county, or municipal law, ordinance, or regulation; 2) in some meaningful way either to his governmental status or to the performance of his duties; or 3) under pretense of his governmental status.

Jury Instruction No. 8, CP 318.

Jury Instruction No. 8 defined "under color of law" for purposes of Jury Instruction No. 7 addressing liability:

The Plaintiff brings her claim under the federal statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides that any person who, under color of law, deprives another of any right, privilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States shall be liable to the injured party. In order to prevail on her § 1983 claim, the Plaintiff must prove each of the following elements by a preponderance of the evidence:

- (1) the Defendant acted under color of law; and
- (2) the Defendant's act(s) deprived the Plaintiff of her right to informational privacy under the U.S. Constitution.

If you find the Plaintiff has proved each of these elements, your verdict should be for the Plaintiff. If, on the other hand, the Plaintiff has failed to prove any one or more of these elements, your verdict should be for the Defendant.

Jury Instruction No. 7, CP 320.

On October 30, 2013, the jury returned a verdict finding Groseclose did "act under color of law when he accessed the March 30, 2009 law enforcement incident report via Spillman." CP 41, 322.

On October 30, 2013, a judgment was entered under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 against Groseclose in the amount of \$60,000.00 dollars. CP 324. On February 18, 2014, a second judgment was entered under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 against Groseclose in the amount of \$61,025.50 for attorney's fees and costs related to the underlying claim by Corter. CP 326.

E. The Current Lawsuit.

On February 20, 2014, a letter was sent by counsel for Corter to Douglas County requesting payment on the judgments entered against Groseclose. CP 328. In response, WCRP filed a complaint in Douglas County Superior Court, requesting a declaratory judgment that it was not liable for Groseclose's judgment, under the terms of its policy. CP 1-52. Groseclose and Corter (collectively "Appellants") answered and filed a

cross-claim against Douglas County. CP 58-70. Douglas County answered both complaints, and filed its own cross-claim for declaratory relief against Appellants. CP 53-57. All parties filed for summary judgment on their claims. CP 75-88, 188-98, 282-307.

i

The trial court consolidated the parties' motions, and conducted a hearing on all motions on August 7, 2014. RP 1. In its oral ruling, the trial court stated

I don't believe that Mr. Groseclose under either McDade $I^{[3]}$ or McDade $I^{[4]}$ was acting within the scope of his employment or acting within the scope of his official duties. I think it's probably true that Mr. Groseclose carries a badge around probably everywhere he goes, which doesn't necessarily mean that everything he does is within the scope of his duties as a police officer, and particularly in relation to a relationship with his ex-wife and/or their child.

RP 27. The trial court further found that Groseclose had not exhausted all administrative remedies before seeking payment from WCRP. RP 27. Accordingly, the trial court found that neither WCRP nor Douglas County had a duty to indemnify Groseclose, and granted both WCRP's and Douglas County's motions for summary judgment. CP 380-83.

³ McDade v. West, 223 F.3d 1135 (9th Cir. 2000).

⁴ McDade v. West, 60 Fed. App'x 146 (9th Cir. 2003). This was the follow up to the 9th Circuit's review in which they found Ms. West to be acting within the scope of her official duties. As the opinion was unpublished, no further reference to this opinion will appear in this brief. See Ninth Circuit Rule 36-3.

Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal on September 17, 2014. CP 386-91.

D. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews decisions on summary judgment de novo. Coronado v. Orona, 137 Wn. App. 308, 313, 153 P.3d 217 (2007). Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact. Id.; CR 56. A genuine issue of material fact exists when reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation. Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce Cnty., 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). The party moving for summary judgment has the burden of proving that summary judgment is appropriate. Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage, 71 Wn. App. 5, 9, 586 P.2d 410 (1993). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, all facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011).

This Court also reviews issues of statutory interpretation de novo. *Coronado*, 137 Wn. App. at 315. Statutes should be interpreted so as to give effect to the intent of the legislature. *Five Corners Family Farmers v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 296, 320, 268 P.3d 892 (2011).

B. RCW 4.96.041 Requires Douglas County to Indemnify Groseclose.

Pursuant to RCW 4.96.041, Douglas County is required to indemnify Groseclose for the judgment entered against him in the underlying case. RCW 4.96.041 states, in relevant part:

(1) Whenever an action or proceeding for damages is brought against any past or present officer, employee, or volunteer of a local governmental entity of this state, arising from acts or omissions while performing or in good faith purporting to perform his or her official duties, such officer, employee, or volunteer may request the local governmental entity to authorize the defense of the action or proceeding at the expense of the local governmental entity.

...

(4) When an officer, employee, or volunteer of the local governmental entity has been represented at the expense of the local governmental entity under subsection (1) of this section and the court hearing the action has found that the officer, employee, or volunteer was acting within the scope of his or her official duties, and a judgment has been entered against the officer, employee, or volunteer under chapter 4.96 RCW or 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1981 et seq., thereafter the judgment creditor shall seek satisfaction for nonpunitive damages only from the local governmental entity, and judgment for nonpunitive damages shall not become a lien upon any property of such officer, employee, or volunteer.

At issue in this case is subsection (4) of the statute. The trial court interpreted "scope of official duties," as used in RCW 4.96.041(4), DCC 2.90.030, and the WCRP insurance policy, as a phrase equivalent to "scope of employment." It therefore concluded that Groseclose was not entitled to

indemnification, despite the finding that he was "acting under color of law," because his actions were not within the scope of his employment. The trial court's interpretation of the statutory phrase "scope of official duties" is erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

1. Douglas County Authorized the Expenditure of Funds for Groseclose's Defense.

RCW 4.96.041(4) mandates two prerequisites before a public employee can be indemnified for a judgment against him. First, the local governmental entity must have agreed to represent the employee. Second, the court in the underlying action must have found that the employee was acting within the scope of his official duties. Both of these prerequisites have been satisfied here, and Groseclose is entitled to be indemnified.⁵

The agreed-upon facts in this case establish that Douglas County authorized the defense of Groseclose at its expense. First, Douglas County admits that it paid a deductible for use in the underlying case, including attorney's fees and other defense costs incurred up to the County's deductible limit. DCC 2.90.010 defines "expense" as "reasonable attorney's fees and litigation costs." The required process for authorization of payment of attorney's fees and costs by Douglas County is outlined in DCC 2.90.030, which states:

⁵ Although the trial court decided this matter under the second part of the test, both parts are addressed here for the sake of completeness.

(A) Douglas County shall grant the request to defend a claim and pay the necessary expenses of defense upon a determination that the claim is based upon an alleged act or omission of the officer, employee or volunteer which was, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties. Such determination shall be made as follows:

...

- (B) Douglas County shall not defend or pay for the expense of defending a claim against an officer, employee or volunteer based which alleges unlawfully obtaining personal benefits while acting in his or her official capacity.
- (C) Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim which are paid or incurred by an officer, employee or volunteer prior to receipt of a proper written request by the board of county commissioners. Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim in advance of services being rendered or costs being incurred.

DDC 2.90.030.

Pursuant to its own municipal code, Douglas County is prohibited from paying <u>any</u> expenses of defending a claim against an officer until a request for defense is received by the board of county commissioners and a majority of the board of county commissioners (or legal counsel selected by the board) determines that the claim against that officer is based upon an alleged act or omission of the officer which was, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties. DDC 2.90.030. Here, Douglas County did pay attorney's fees and costs for

Groseclose in the underlying action. This action is in and of itself evidence of Douglas County's authorization of Groseclose's defense at the County's expense.

Douglas County's act of paying the expense of the defense of Groseclose constitutes waiver of the argument that it did not authorize Groseclose's defense. Washington courts recognize that in certain cases the common law doctrine of waiver will preclude a defendant from raising an affirmative defense. *Lybbert v. Grant Cnty.*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 38, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Our Supreme Court has held that waiver of affirmative defenses can occur in two ways: if assertion of the defense is inconsistent with the defendant's prior behavior or if the defendant has been dilatory in raising the defense. *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 38–39; *King v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 146 Wn.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 563 (2002). The doctrine of waiver is "designed to prevent a defendant from ambushing a plaintiff during litigation either through delay in asserting a defense or misdirecting the plaintiff away from a defense for tactical advantage." *King*, 146 Wn.2d at 424 (citing *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 40).

Here, by paying the expenses of the defense of Groseclose, Douglas County waived the defense that it did not authorize the payment of legal expenses. Douglas County's action of paying defense expenses in the underlying litigation is inconsistent with its current position that it did not authorize the defense. If Douglas County did not authorize the defense it could not have paid the expenses related to the defense. DCC 2.90. However, Douglas County admits that it spent \$25,000 on the underlying litigation. Thus, Douglas County is precluded from asserting that it did not authorize the expenditure of funds in Groseclose's defense.

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