FILED

FEB 2 3 2015

COURT OF AFRICALS DIVISION ID STATE OF WASHINGTON By.

No. 32769-8

٠

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL, a public entity,

Respondent,

۷.

TAMARA MARIE CORTER, a married individual, STEVE GROSECLOSE, an individual,

Appellants,

and

DOUGLAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL

J. William Ashbaugh HACKETT, BEECHER & HART 1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-1651 Telephone: 206 624 2200 E-mail: washbaugh@hackettbeecher.com

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

.

III. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. <u>The WCRP is not an Insurance Company.</u>

The trial court granted summary judgment for the Pool on the basis that because Groseclose did not exhaust the internal appellate review process mandated by the Pool's By-Laws, neither he nor his assignee Corter could challenge the Pool's decision to enforce its reservation of rights and deny Groseclose

indemnification for Corter's judgment against him. In an argument first raised in this appeal and non-responsive to the basis for either the Pool's or Douglas County's summary judgments, Corter and Groseclose repeatedly refer to the Pool as an insurance company and contend that the Pool's Joint Self-Insurance Policy should be considered an insurance contract. The Court should not consider this argument. RAP 2.5(a); *Columbia Park Golf Course, Inc. v. City of Kennewick*, 160 Wn.App. 66, 91, 248 P.3d 1067 (Div. III 2011). However, even if the Court does consider this non-responsive argument, it is contrary to Washington law.

The Legislature enacted Chapter 48.62 in order to give public entities the option to jointly self-insure as **an alternative** to purchasing traditional commercial insurance. Nothing in the statute indicates that, by virtue of exercising that option, these public entities then become insurers, subject to insurance law. In fact, in the final section of the new legislation on joint self insurance for public entities, the Legislature expressly stated that: "[t]wo or more local governmental entities...which...join together and organize to form an organization for the purpose of jointly self-insuring shall not be deemed an 'insurer' under this code." The insurance code also makes this equally clear. Chapter 48.01 RCW is the Washington

State insurance code. RCW 48.01.010. The insurance code expressly states that risk pools comprised of two or more local governmental entities are not insurers:

"Insurer" as used in this code includes every person engaged in the business of making contracts of insurance, other than a fraternal benefit society. A reciprocal or interinsurance exchange is an "insurer" as used in this code. Two or more hospitals that join and organize as a mutual corporation pursuant to chapter 24.06 RCW for the purpose of insuring or self-insuring against liability claims, including medical liability, through a contributing trust fund are not an "insurer" under this code. Two or more local governmental entities, under any provision of law, that join together and organize to form an organization for the purpose of jointly selfinsuring or self-funding are not an "insurer" under this code. Two or more affordable housing entities that join together and organize to form an organization for the purpose of jointly self-insuring or self-funding under chapter 48.64 RCW are not an "insurer" under this code. Two or more persons engaged in the business of commercial fishing who enter into an arrangement with other such persons for the pooling of funds to pay claims or losses arising out of loss or damage to a vessel or machinery used in the business of commercial fishing and owned by a member of the pool are not an "insurer" under this code.

RCW 48.01.050.

The composition and functions of the Pool also demonstrate that the Pool is not an insurer. Unlike a traditional insured-insurer relationship, where an individual or entity purchases insurance from a for-profit company, here, the 26 members of the Pool are jointly self-insuring as an association of counties, and then above a certain limit, are purchasing excess or reinsurance to cover additional liabilities. Individuals or any entity other than a Washington State county cannot join or buy its way into the Pool; rather, under Chapter 39.34 RCW and 48.62 RCW, and the Pool's Interlocal Agreement, membership in the Pool is limited to Washington State counties. CP 204.

٠

The member counties also have obligations and benefits that no insured assumes through the purchase of traditional insurance. As dictated by statute, RCW 48.62.060, and the terms of the Interlocal Agreement, each member county of the Pool has contingent liability for the liabilities of the Pool in the event that the Pool does not have sufficient assets to cover its liabilities. CP 207. In contrast, when an insured purchases a policy from a traditional insurance carrier, that individual has no liability for that insurer's potential contingent liabilities, and certainly has no obligation to shoulder its co-insured's potential contingent liabilities.

As set forth in the Interlocal Agreement, all income and assets of the Pool, including surplus funds, are for the exclusive benefit of the member counties, and used solely for Pool purposes. CP 205. No purchaser of traditional insurance has access to any of its insurer's assets, beyond the coverage that was purchased. Moreover, each of the member counties understands that by joining

the Pool, it is electing to join an association of counties, and that the Pool is not an insurer, or subject to insurance law principles.

The Pool's JSILP also reflects, in unambiguous bolded terms, that the Pool is not an insurer:

NOTICE: THE FOLLOWINGLIABILITY COVERAGE IS PROVIDED BY THE WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL, A JOINT SELF-INSURANCE PROGRAM AUTHORIZED BY RCW 48.62.031. THE WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL IS NOT AN INSURANCE COMPANY AND THIS LIABILITY COVERAGE IS NOT TRADITIONAL INSURANCE.

CP 229.

This is not an ambiguous statement. This provision is not hidden or buried in a mass of small print; instead, it is in bold, and in all-capital letters.

The cases and treatises that have addressed this issue also provide that risk pools are not insurance companies and are not subject to insurance law provisions, and that self-insurance policies are not insurance and should be guided by traditional contract principles. A case out of California aptly illustrates this point. In *City of South El Monte v. Southern California Joint Powers Insurance Authority*, 45 Cal.Rptr.2d 729 (1995), the member city sued the defendant risk pool for failing to defend the City against a lawsuit brought by an electroplating business that was forced to

shut down because of a City noise reduction ordinance. *Id.* at 730. The trial court granted the city's motion for summary judgment, concluding in relevant part that a contract of indemnity existed between the City and the pool, and that insurance law was applicable to coverage disputes. *Id.* at 738.

The appellate court disagreed, and reversed the summary judgment order. In doing so, the court engaged in a lengthy discussion of why risk pools are formed and why ordinary insurance coverage interpretation rules do not apply. Specifically, the *City of South El Monte* court stated:

Both parties agree coverage of claims under the Program will be determined by the terms and definitions of the excess insurance policies. However, the issue arises whether principles of insurance law should be used to resolve questions of coverage. Under the facts of this case, our answer is no. Considering the purpose of the pooling arrangements, we determine questions of coverage are properly answered by relying on rules of contract law that emphasize the intent of the parties. Given a local entity's broad power to insure against all potential liabilities and to do that through joint power pooling arrangements, principles governing insurance carriers and insurance law have no applicability, absent consent of the parties to the pooling agreement.

Joint authority pools are member-directed. Municipalities best understand the nature of their risks and losses and a "sense of ownership in the pool endeavor [is] an important motivation in practicing risk management." The pools are the creation of the membership and reflect the local perspective on matters the members have elected to pool and share. Members agree to abide by the terms of their joint powers agreements and programs and agree to pool prescribed losses. They have the authority to self-insure as they deem appropriate and to provide additional coverage as necessary. This authority is based on the members' perceptions of which risks they elect to pool and which risks they do not.

Members jointly determine the scope and extent of their own coverage. They do so by creating member-written agreements and programs tailored to suit the needs of the participating entities. The governing bodies of these pooling arrangements interpret the agreements and programs to implement the intent of the members. The joint powers agreement, by-laws and the self-insurance program, with related coverage memoranda, provide the framework within which to determine the rights, liabilities, and intentions of the pools and their respective members.

In our case, an analysis of duty to defend and coverage issues must give full effect to the intent of the member cities of the Authority as reflected in the policies and procedures adopted by the Executive Committee with the approval of the Board of Directors. The Authority, through its members, agreed to adopt the definition of occurrence in the excess insurance policies to decide the issue of what is a covered claim. They did not agree to also incorporate principles governing insurance carriers and insurance law into coverage decisions. It is this Agreement by the member cities that is the crux of the coverage determination.

City of South El Monte, 45 Cal.Rptr.2d at 734-35 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).³

The risk pool in the *El Monte* case is on all fours with the Washington Counties Risk Pool. Like in *El Monte*, the Pool's member counties agree to be bound by their joint powers agreement; here, the Interlocal Agreement. Like in *El Monte*, where the members created their own coverage document, here, in creating the JSILP and amending it when necessary, the member counties jointly determined the scope and extent of their own coverage.

In another analogous case, *City of Arvada v. Colorado Intergovernmental Risk Sharing Agency*, 19 P.3d 10 (Colo. 2001), where the Colorado Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment for a risk pool after it denied coverage of a breach of leasehold claim, the court stated:

[A]n insurance pool is, in essence, an extension of each member, as the funds that provide the coverage come directly from the members, and the type and extent of coverage is determined collectively by the members themselves. Thus, self-insurance pools are more properly linked to simple self-insurance than to insurance companies.

19 P.3d at 13 (emphasis added).

³ See also Southgate Recreation & Park Dist. v. California Ass'n for Park & Rec. Ins., 130 Cal.Rptr.2d 728, 730 (2003) (recognizing *City of South El Monte*'s rule that risk pools are not considered insurance, and that "questions of defense and coverage are answered by relying on rules of contract law that emphasize the parties' intent").

The City of Arvada court continued:

It is clear from these definitions ["insurance" and "insurer"] that a self-insurance pool does not qualify as either an insurance company or an insurer. Selfinsurance pools are not in the business of making contracts of insurance, as they are not for-profit associations. Furthermore, insurance pools do not undertake the indemnification of a third party. Rather, an insurance pool is, in essence, an extension of each member, as the funds that provide the coverage come directly from the members, and the type and extent of coverage is determined collectively by the members themselves. Thus, self-insurance pools are more properly likened to self-insurance simple than to insurance companies.

Id. at 13 (emphasis added).

B. Assignees take their rights subject to any defenses a person may have against the assignor.⁴

Under Washington law it has long been settled that an assignee takes her rights subject to any defenses a person may have against her assignor. *See. e.g. Pacific Northwest Life Ins. Co. v. Turnbull*, 51 Wn. App. 692, 700, 754 P.2d 1262 (1988); *Federal Finance Company, Inc. v. Humiston*, 66 Wn.2d 648, 651-52, 404 P.2d 465 (1965). Therefore, to the extent Groseclose may not

⁴ For purposes of its summary judgment below, the Pool specifically preserved and did not waive its argument that Groseclose was not allowed to assign his rights to Corter under the applicable JSILP.

dispute a coverage determination by the WCRP with respect to any duty to indemnify him for the judgment entered against him by Corter, Corter also may not dispute that coverage determination on her assigned claim from Groseclose.

C. Groseclose failed to exhaust his administrative appellate rights under the WCRP By-Laws and is thus precluded from challenging the WCRP's decision to refuse to indemnify him.

Pursuant to Article 8.A.5, on November 6, 2013, after the jury in the Underlying Litigation returned its verdict and judgment was entered against him, the Pool informed Mr. Groseclose in writing that it was enforcing its prior reservation of rights to deny coverage for that judgment. CP 274-275. The Pool also informed him that consistent with Article 8.B.3 of the By-laws, he was now authorized to appeal the Pool's decision to the Executive Director of the Pool within the next 30 days. *Id.* Neither Mr. Groseclose nor Ms. Corter chose to appeal the Pool's enforcement of its reservation of rights within the allotted 30 days. CP 200-201. Under Article 8.B.2.e of the By-Laws, exhaustion of the appeal process outlined in Article 8.B of the By-Laws is a condition precedent to any subsequent legal action by an aggrieved party. CP 220-223.

Having failed to exhaust their right to appeal the Pool's initial decision to enforce its reservation of rights under the WCRP By-Laws, Groseclose and Corter are now barred from challenging the Pool's decision herein.

D. <u>Groseclose is bound by the WCRP By-Law Appeal</u> Requirements.

.

The WCRP appointed attorney Heather Yakely to defend Ms. Yakely defended Groseclose in the Underlying Litigation. Groseclose through trial and post verdict motions. The WCRP paid all of Ms. Yakely's invoices in connection with her representation of Groseclose. Ms. Yakely's representation of Groseclose was made pursuant to written reservation of rights letters issued to Mr. Groseclose, which letters were required under WCRP By-Law Article 8.A. CP 220-221. Article 8.A governs the coverage determination of the WCRP with respect to a "member county or person claiming coverage or protection rights under the Pool's Joint Self-Insurance Liability Policy ("JSILP"). Id. After the verdict against Groseclose was entered in the Underlying Litigation was returned and judgment entered against him, the WCRP specifically informed Groseclose that the Pool was enforcing its reservation of rights and would refuse to pay the judgment Corter obtained

against him and that Groseclose that pursuant to Article 8.B.3 of the By-Laws he now had the right to appeal the WCRP's decision to enforce its reservation of rights and that the appeal process was governed by Articles 8.B.1 and 8.B.2. CP 274-275; CP 221-222.

.

Despite having accepted the benefit of a defense provided in the Underlying Litigation pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement, WCRP By-Laws and applicable JSILP, Groseclose continues to claim that he is not bound by their terms and conditions. Groseclose is specifically contemplated as a potential covered party under these documents. CP 207 - Article 14 of the Interlocal Agreement; CP 220-223 - Article 8 of the By-Laws. Therefore, to the extent Groseclose accepted those benefits and seeks to make the WCRP pay for the judgment entered against him in the Underlying Litigation he is subject to any defenses the WCRP may raise to Groseclose's claims that may exist in these documents. Kinne v. Lampson, 58 Wn.2d 563, 567; 364 P.2d 510 (1961); Shaffer v McFadden, 125 Wn. App. 364, 369, 104 P.3d 742 (2005). One of those defenses is the requirement that Groseclose exhaust the appeal requirements in Article 8 of the By-Laws. Groseclose does not dispute that he failed to exhaust these requirements.

E. <u>The "Futility" exemption from the Exhaustion Doctrine</u> under RCW <u>34.05.534(3)(b) is not applicable</u>.

.

Groseclose next argues that even if he were subject to the appeal requirements in the WCRP By-Laws, because any appeal would have been futile, he is relieved from fulfilling them under RCW 34.05.534 (3)((b). This statute is part of the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). The Administrative Procedure Act codified in RCW 34.05 only applies to state agencies and was not intended to include local agencies that are not concerned with statewide programs or part of a statewide system. *Riggins v. Housing Authority of Seattle*, 87 Wn.2d 97, 99-100, 549 P.2d 480 (1976); *Kitsap County Fire Protection District No. 7, v. Kitsap County Boundary Review Board*, 87 Wn. App. 753, 757, 943 P.2d 380 (1997).

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